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CATHOLIC MISSIONARIES IN THE EARLY AND IN
THE TERRITORIAL DAYS OF IOWA.

' BY REV. JUHN F. KEMPKER, DAVENl'ORT, IUW.V,

Since the days of Father ]\Iar(|uettp and of Father Ilenne-
pin, it is not definitely known that any Catholic priest set foot
within the present limits of Iowa until about the year 1828.
Frntn that time until 1S;̂ 2. Rev. Fathons .Tos'eph A. Lutz,
Chartes F. Van Quiekenborue. and Francis Vincent Badin
made visits to several scattered settlements in this region, as
may be seen from the following meagre aeeounts.

Rev, Joseph A. Lutz WÍIS a zealims young German priest, sta-
tioned in St. Lfiuis. From this- point he made .several mission-
ary journeys along the banks of the Mississippi river, of
which, however, no record is found, excepting of a protracted
visit in 1881 to the people of Prairie du Chien.

R«v, Francis Vincent Badin was an early priest of De-
trnit. But he must not he confoundod with Rev. >>teplien Theo-
dor Badin, the first priest ordainetl in the United States, who
was also on duty among the Pottawattamie Indians in Indiana
from 1830 to 188fi, Rev. Francis V, Badin was stationed at
Prairie dn Chien, where he ^agns the registers, "Francois Vint
Badin, priest," commencing May 29. 1827. During that year
and the years 1828. 182Í) and 1830, he makes many records of
baptisms, marriages and burials at Prairie du Chien, Galena
and Fever River,*

Rev. Charles Felix Van Quit'kenborne was a zealous and
most exemplary Jesuit priest of thß province of St. Louis, and
oí him it is said tluit he held divine services in tlie lead mines
of Diibuiiue about the year 1832.

These priests did what they eould for th? Indians, and it
is probable that they visited the Indians and traders and trap-
pers on the we.st bank of the Mississippi river.

•See copy of these In "Reford of American Historical Society of Phila-
delphia, September, 1311, pages 164-197.
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Tn the autumn of 1831. Bishop Joseph Rosati. at St. Louis,
ordained as priest the Rev. John McMahon and the following
autumn. 1832. appointed him as pastor of Galena, Illinois, with
contiguous territory. Father McMahon arrived at his destina-
tion the same autumn and liccamc very active in administering
to the spiritual wants of the community, opened a school, had
i--everal converts, and in June. 1833. opened a mission station
in Dubmiiie. But on June 19, 1833. he died from an attack
of cholera, at Galena, and was buried there.

Bishop Rosati in the early spring of 1834 sent as pastor to
Galf-na tin' Hov. Charles P. Fitz-Maurice. who divided his time
I)etwfeii (¡alena and Dubuque. He entered claims for church
grounds at Dubuqne, obtained a subscription for one thousand
one hundred dollars, had tho hoards and timber engaged and
contract for the building given out to a carpenter; when in
the sunnnei- of 1834 lie also was snatched away by the cholera
and laid to rest with Father ärcMahon. Then all the building
arrangements Avere abandoned. During this year Dubuejue
witnessed the Iniilding of a church by the iletliodist Epis-
copals.

AVhen Patrick Quigley hnilt his l(tg house in Dubuque. it
became the headquarters o£ the jiriests, and was used for
divine services until the building of St. Raphael's church.

Samuel "Mazzuchelli. for five years a Dominican Friar in
I-'aenza and in Rome, was sent by his superiors to Bishop Fen-
wick, of Cincinnati. Ohio. He bade Milan farewell and de-
parted from Rome in June. 1828. for Lyons. France, where he
studied the French language. On October 5, 1828. he sailed
for New York and arrived at Cincinnati the same autumn.
Here and at St. Rose Dominican Convent, near Springfield.
Kentucky, lie L-outinued his studies, especially English, he-
came sacristan of the Cathedral in Cincinnati in 1829 and in
September of this year entered the Dominican Convent of St.
Joseph's, Perry County, Ohio, to prepare for ordination and
there became cateehist. In the catliedral in Cincimiati Bishop
Fenwick ordained him deacon in July, and priest on Septem-
ber 5. 1830. Hi! was immediately sent as missionary to the
Island of .Alackinaf?. where he was received with the greatest
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In the early summer of 1835, Father Mazzuchelli succeeded
to the pastorate of Galena and in the beginning of July made
his first visit to Dubuque. He at once made arrangements for
building the St. Raphael's church at Dubuque, for which he
laid the corner stone on August 15, 1835, and a little later
that for St. Michael's church in Galena, bringing both these
churches under roof that autumn. He was a very talented
and energetic priest, visiting and organizing many congrega-
tions, one as early as 1835, at Davenport, where he commenced
the building of a church in 1837 and completed it in 1838. It
was a two-story brick building, 25 by 40 feet in size and dedi-
cated on May 23, 1839, by Bishop ûlathias Loras of Dubuque.

The church at Dubuque was stone, 40 by 80 feet in size.. Of
this Eliphalet Price, in ANNALS OF IOWA, October, 1865, page
541, says:

The first Catholic church erected in Iowa was commenced at Du-
buque in the spring of 1835, under the management and direction oí
an educated and gentlemanly little French priest by the name of
Mazzuchelli. This was a stone eäifice. We took the contract, and
furnished the stone for this huildlng until it was about eight feet
high, when we left Dubuque for a more northern latitude. We never
transacted business with a more honorable, pleasant and gentlemanly
person than the Rev. Mr. Mazzuchelli. We left him seated upon a
stone near the building, watching the lazy movements of a lone
Irishman, who was working out his subscription in aid of the church.
We have never seen him since.

The first priest to extend his visits to the southeastern part
of the State was the Rev. P. P. Lefevre, pastor of the St.
Paul's church on Salt River, Rails County, Missouri. He came
in 1834, founded two or three small missions in the Black
Hawk Purchase {Keokuk in Lee County, 1834, and Moffets
Mill, at Augusta on Skunk River, in 1836), and made occa-
sional visits until 1837.

Following him, Rev. August Brickwcdde of St. Boniface
church, Quincy, Illinois, was given charge of this locality, and
he made missionary visits annually for the Easter services to
the people of Fort Madison, West Point and "Zucker" Creek,
all in Lee County, in the years 1838, 1839 and 1840. He cele-
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brated mass in a log house of John Kempker on Sugar Creek
(now St. Paul, Lee County) on May 11, 1838; and during
the summer of that year the people of this settlement, the
IToltkii]nps. Hellmanns, Kcmpkers, Dingmanns, built a log
church on a site four uiiles northwest from AVest Point, whieh
constitutes the present St. James church at St. Paul.

Pope Gregory XVI, on July 28, 1837, created the diocese of
Duhuque, in Wisconsin Territory, with jurisdiction over all
the region north of Missouri and lying between the Mississippi
river and the Missoui'i river, and he appointed the Very Rev.
Mathias Líirns, then Vicar General of Mobile. Alabama, as the
Right Rev. Bisliop. lie was couseeratcd in the Cathedral of
Mobile on December 10, 1837, by the Bt. Ue\. Michael Portier-
of Mobile, assisted by Rt. Rev. Anthony Blanc, of New Or-
leans ; and then made a visit to France and to the Pope at
Rome. In 1838, Bishop Loras appointed Father Mazzuchelli
as his Vicar General and Administrator of Dubuque, which
gave him the title of Very Rev. Samuel Mazzuclielli, V. G.
O. P.

Rt. Rev. Bishop Mathias Loras, journeying ou steamboat
from St. Louis, ai'rived at Dubuque on Friday, April 19,
1839, and was installed in St. Rapliael's Cathedral on Sunday,
April 21st ; and on the following Sunday, April 28, 1839, held
public services iu St. Michael's Church, Galena, Illinois, over
which region he had been appointed as Vicar General of
St. Louis.

Rt. RiCv. Bishop ^Tathias Loras was a polished scholar and
gifted orator, with a keen mind and mature judgment. His
fliaracter was one of great gentleness aud unflinching devoted-
ness to his high vocation. He was well schooled in missionary
life. Students today rank him as a saintly bishop and a
great statesman.

On his arrival he found iu a saliil)rious climate, a vast
territory of unbroken prairies, which showed marvelous fer-
tility of soil, teeming with grasses, flowers and game ; dotted
with beautiful groves; abundautly supplied with good water
iu springs, brooks and rivers. This territory was populated by
about thirty thousand Indians, in addition to perhaps forty-
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three thousand white inhabitants, of whom nearly three thou-
sand were Catholics. His only churches were St. Raphael's
Dubuque; St. Anthony's, Davenport; St. James', Lee County,
and the Jesuit Indian mission at Council Bluffs; there was
not a house nor a school in the territory ; and he was met by
his only priest. Father :\iazzufhellj. To the new diocese he
presented the companions whom he brought from Prance,
namely; the Rev. J. Anthony M. Pelamourgfues, Rev. Joseph
Cretin, and the seminarians Remigius Petiot, Augustin liavoux,
Lucien Galtier and James Causse. He at onee entered upon
his famous career. A brick residence was built at Dubuque un-
der the direction and supervision of Father JIazzuehelli. to give

• quarters for bishop, priests and a seminary. Sehools and
congregations wore orfrfinized at various points. On May 23,
183Í), he held episcopal visitation in Davenport, blessed the
church, promised them a priest, and sent Rev. J. A. SI. Pelam-
ourgnes in September of the samp year, who opened a sehool
at once, and who attended the entire region, which nntil 1846
often included Rock Island, Muscatine. Burlington and Iowa
City. His memory is held in benediction by all the early
settlers regardless of creed.

In July, 1839, the Bishop made his visitation to St. Peters.
Minnesota, accompanied by Father Pelaiiiourgues. and he
made provision for that i)ortion of the vineyard, and also for
Prairie du Cliien. He inUucod a young Indian to come liack
with him, to teach his young priests the Sioux language.

Rev. R. Petoit was ordained in the autumn of 1839, and
assigned to Galena, remaining on duty for many years in
northwest Illinois and southwest Wisconsin.

The Holy Order of Priesthood was administered for the
first time in the great Northwest by Bishop Loras in his
cathedral at Dubuiiue on January 5. 1840. when he ordained
the Reverends Augustin Ravoux, Lucien Galtier and James
Causse. Father Ravonx was sent to Prairie du Chien ; Fa-
ther Galtier to St. Peter's, Minnesota, and soon was built the
first church in honor of St. Paul, which gave the name for the
present city of that name. In 1844, Father (Jaltier was sent
to Keokuk, and built the first church there. Later he was
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placed in charge of Prairie dn ('hii^n. In 18-41j Father Ra-
vous took up his (|uart(^rs in St. Peter's and became the great
pioneer and Indian missionary of Minnesota.

The Bishoj) appointed Father Cretin specially in charge of
the Winnebago Indians, and Father Pelamourgnes of the Sac
and Fox Indians. Father Cretin also was appointed Vicar
General and ^iven special direction for opening of schools,
a seminary, and academies; in addition to which he joined
witb the Bishop in performing priestly functions on tbe mis-
sions wberever called, to proacb, say mass, hear confessions,
answer sick (?alls, teach the catechism.

in 1840, tbo Bishop endeavored to obtain Sisters for his
schools-. Being unsuccessful at this time, he in 1843, prevailed
uix)n the Sisters of Charity of the Blessed Virgin Mary to
remove tbeir Motherbouse from Philadelphia to Dubuqiio.
Tbey arrived the same year under tbe guidance of Jiother
Frances Clarke, and immediately established schools in their
new home.

The Very Rev. Terence Donagboe was received as their di-
rector in 1843. and appointed a.s Vicar General of tbe diocese.
He likewise aided in missionary work in Dubuque, Holy Cross,
Bellevue and i\laquoketa.

Fatber ^Mazzucbelli was assigned to attendance principally
at (ialena, Burlington. Iowa City and Muscatine; building St.
Paul's cbnrch at Burlington in 183!!; St. Mary's church at
Iowa City in 1841 and Old Man's Creek the same year, and
celebrating divine services at Fort Madison in 1830. He was
constantly on duty until 1843. when he made a visit to bis
old home in Milan. Italy, aud upon his return remained in
Wisconsin, Whilst in Italy he wrote an interesting account
of his missionary labors which was printed in the Italian
language.*

In 1840 and 1S43 tbe Bishop attended the churcb council
at Baltimore. Maryland.

In 1842, tbe Bishop organized the congregation of Holy
Cross near Dubnque, and St. Andrew's church at Bellevne.
He had two churches joined at Prairie du Chien and floated

•"Memorle Istorlche ed Bdlflcanti D'un Missionario Apostólico del
Ordine del Predleatorl. Milano. 1844."
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down the river in the shape of a raft, ordering one to be
erected as St. Andrew's church at Bellcvue, the other as St.
Mathias' church at JIuscatine. Furthermore, congregations
were organized at New Vienna, Guttenburg, Fort Atkinson,
Garnavillo, near Iowa City, St. Vincent's on English river,
Ottumwa and Mt. Pleasant. He made many bishop "s visita-
tions from the years 1842 to 1846.

From 1843 until 1846, Father Cretin made special efforts
for the Winnebago Indians, and for their benefit resided
part of the time in the Wlinnebago Mission (near Fort Atkin-
son), Iowa, and Prairie du Cliien.

In 1841, Rev. J. C. Perrodin arrived and was appointed
pastor of the Maquoketa church, Jackson County, and also
attended Bellevue and other stations.

In 1840, Rev. John G. Alleman came here from the Domin-
icans in Ohio and built a brick church 16 by 18 feet in dimen-
sions, in Fort Madison, the St. Joseph's congregation, where
he built a larger church in 1844. He built a frame church,
about 20 by 40 feet in size in "West Point in honor of St.
Philip, and also attended the churches at St. Paul, Primrose,
Farmington and Keokuk. From then until 1848, he spent
most of his time in Lee County, Iowa, but wa.s often absent in
the performance of missionai*y duties iu Burlington, Dnhuque
and wherever he heard of the arrival of German immigrants.
In 1846 he organized a congregation in the St. Vincent settle-
ment (two miles west of the present Riverside, Wasliington
County), aided by the Sehnoebalen and Edelstein families;
built a log church and laid out a town site which was named
Strassburg.

In 1843, Rjev. John Healey was apiwinted pastor of Bur-
lington, and later resided with the Bishop at Dubuque, and
then was appointed pastor of Bellevue.

In 1843, Rev. Anthony Godfert was appointed pastor of
Iowa City, and from there also made visits to Muscatine, Bur-
lington, Old Man's Creek and "Washington County.

Rev. James Causse was on duty part of the time at Du-
buque, but later on resided chiefly at Potosi,-Wisconsin.
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All those clergymen were assiduous and diligent, and went
about everywhere in humility and apostolical zeal, whilst their
conduct and holy character commanded the confidence and
admiration of all classes.

Thus 1846 found us with an academy for boys at Dubuque,
conducted by priests of the cathedral. Mother Frances Clarke
had in her community tliirteen sisters and seven novices, an
academy with seventy young ladies, and several schools.

The Indian mission at Council Bluffs was organized by the
Jesuit missionarie.s from St. Louis, under the jurisdiction of
Bishop Loras. They arrived at Couneil Bluffs on the morn-
ing of May 30, 1838, and were received with great joy by
the Indian chiefs and braves, mostly Pottawattamies. The
company consisted of the Jesuit Fathers Rev. Felix Verreydt,
Rev. J. De Smet, and Brother Ma^elli. These took possession
of the vacated soldiers' barracks, at the site of the present
Pierce school, near the church of St. Peter and Paul. They
conducted regular services, built several more log hous&s, had
an Indian sehool with generally an attendance of about thirty
children, baptized- about one hundred in the first year, in
spite of many obstacles; and on Our Lady Day, August 15,
1838, they celebrated high mass, at which the entire Latin
singing was chanted by the Indians. Father Christian
Hoecken, Jesuit, also aided in tbis mission. However, with
the dispersion of the Indians the mission waned, and by the
year 1843 was almost abandoned; although the chapel with
its cross, little tower and chapel bell remained in place for
mauy years, and was seen there by Rev. Father William
Emonds when he was resident pastor of Council Bluffs as
late as 1855. Hard by this chapel was a cemeteiy, and many
years later, when the streets were graded, the historic traces
appeared in the finding of Indian shells, of rosary beads and
medals.

The activity of the Bishop and his priests continued; but
our study comes to a close with the Territorial days of Iowa
in 1846, at which time we find the Bishop with the same v^ t
territory, in good bodily and mental vigor, aided by R«v.
John G. Alleman at Fort Madison; Very Rev. Joseph Cretin,
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at Dubuque; Very Rev. Terence Donaghoe. at Dubuque; Rev.
Anthony Godfert, at Iowa City; Rev. J. A. M. Pelamourgues,
at Davenport; Kev. J. C. Perrodin, at Maquoketa: Rev. lL
Herrog, at Burlington ; with the Indians mostly gone from
Iowa, but large numbers nf Sioux. Chippewa, ^landans and
AVinnebago in Minnesota, under-the L-arc of Rev. Father A.
Ravoux near Fort Snelling, and Rev. George A. Bellecourt,
Pernbina; with several academies and si-liools under the guid-
ance of twenty Sisters of Charity, several priests, and some
lay teachers; thirteen churches, nine stations, and a Catholic
population of nearly seven thousand.

In the directories for Dubuque, we sometimes come across
the annoiUKiement as occa.sion required, "Sermons preached
ill English, (Terman, French or Sioux** language.

In 1844, the dioceses of Chicago and Milwaukee were cre-
ated, and some of the Dubuque priests remained there, as
follows: Very Rev. Samuel Mazzuchelli, Rev. Lucien Galtier,
and Rev. James Causse in Wisconsin; Rev. Remigius Petiot in
Illinois.

•Authorities used for this paper in addition to personal acquaintanc«
and interviews with many prelates, priests and pioneer settlers are:

Annals of the Faitii, Annuals, Dublin edition, for the yearfi 1838-1863;
Catholic Dirertorics, for the years 1833 and ff. ;
Baptiamai Registers, Dubuque, Council Bluffa, etc. ;
Memorie iBtorlclie (Father Mazzuchelli) Milan, Italy, 1844:
Letters and Reports, seen by me, and extracts taken through courtesy

of Very liev. Father Vander Sanden, in St. Louis, Missouri, in 18M6,
written to Bishop Joseph Rosati by ,Rev. John McMahon, from Galena;
Rev. Charles P. Fltz-Maurice, from Galena; Rev. P. P. Lefevre, from
St. Paul's, Rails County, Missouri; Rev. August Brickwedfle, Quiney,
Illinois; Rev. Samuel Mazzuchelli. from Dubuque, Iowa, etc.—J. F. K.




